
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

GRAYSON WOOD, Individually and on Behalf of 	CIVIL CASE NO.: 
All Others Similarly Situated Persons, 

Plaintiff, 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

VS. 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
GOLDS GYM SOUTH YORK, 
KWK, INC., KURT J. KRIEGER, 
NICK DEGENHARDT, 
JOHN DOES 1-10 and ABC INC. 1-10, 

Defendants. 

Plaintiff Grayson Wood ("Plaintiff"), individually and on behalf of the class he seeks to 

represent, by and through his counsel, JTB Law Group, LLC, brings this Class Action Complaint 

against Defendants, Golds Gym South York, KWK Inc., Kurt J. Krieger, Nick Degenhardt, John 

Does 1-10, and ABC Inc. 1-10, (hereinafter collectively "Defendants") and in support thereof 

avers as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. Plaintiff Grayson Wood ("Plaintiff," "Wood"), a male, and other similarly situated males 

who work for Defendants have been discriminated against by Defendants on the basis of gender, 

in that Defendants refuse to hire or promote males, solely or primarily on the basis of their sex, 

for the higher paying position of sales associate at the Defendants owned and/or operated by 

Defendants. 

2. Plaintiff brings this action under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended by 

the. Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e, et seq. ("Title VII"), for class-wide injunctive 
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relief, declaratory relief and equitable financial relief, and for damages for the individual named 

plaintiff and other similarly situated employees and/or job applicants. 

3. This class action is brought by a former employee of Defendants who, along with 

Defendants' other similarly situated male employees, were subjected to Defendants' continuing 

policies and practices of gender discrimination. 

4. Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants discriminate against male applicants and 

employees. 

5. Plaintiff seeks an injunction from this Court requiring Defendants to cease their 

discriminatory and retaliatory practices, and seeks declaratory relief and all appropriate equitable 

relief including back and front pay, and all appropriate damages including compensatory 

damages for the individual named Plaintiff, and punitive damages. 

THE PARTIES  

6. Wood is a male who resides in York County, Pennsylvania, and who worked at the Golds 

Gym South York in York, Pennsylvania between July 2014 and November, 2014. 

7. Defendant Golds Gym South York is a fictitious name for a corporation, partnership, or 

other business entity under the laws of the State of Pennsylvania that at all relevant times herein 

did business and is doing business at 298 Pauline Drive, York, Pennsylvania. 

8. KWK, Inc., is and at all relevant times herein was a corporation organized under the laws 

of the State of Pennsylvania that at all relevant times herein did business and is doing business at 

298 Pauline Drive, York, Pennsylvania. 

9. Defendant Kurt J. Krieger is and at all relevant times herein was the president, owner, 

and/or officer of Defendants Golds Gym South York, KWK, Inc., and ABC Inc. 1-10. 
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10. Nick Degenhardt is and at all relevant times herein was the General Manager of the 

Defendant Golds Gym South York. 

11. John Does 1-10 is a fictitious designation for individuals, whose identities are currently 

unknown, who proximately caused the harm to Plaintiff and to the putative class as set forth 

herein. 

12. ABC 1-10 is a fictitious designation for entities, whether a corporation or partnership, the 

identities of which are currently unknown, which proximately caused the harm to Plaintiff and to 

the putative class as set forth herein. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE  

13. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1331, because this action involves Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e, 

et seq., a federal statute. 

14. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 (b) and (c) because a 

substantial part of the acts or omissions giving rise to this action occurred in this District and 

Defendants are subject to personal jurisdiction in this District. 

INDIVIDUAL ALLEGATIONS 

15. Wood was employed at Defendant Golds Gym South York from July 2014 through 

November 2014 as a Membership Sales Representative. 

16. In or around October 2014, a position became available for a Sales Director at the 

Defendant Golds Gym South York. 

17. Wood performed his job as a Membership Sales Representative well and in a satisfactory 

manner. 

18. Prior to becoming a Membership Sales Representative, Wood had a job as a Manager. 
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19. Wood considered himself qualified for the Sales Director position. 

20. The Sales Director position would have paid Wood substantially more than the Customer 

Service Representative position he held. 

21. On or about October 29, 2014, Wood expressed interest in the Sales Director position to 

Defendant Degenhardt, the General Manager of Defendant Golds Gym South York. 

22. Defendant Degenhardt told Wood in writing that he did not have a "tits or a [vagina]," 

which were the "real requirements" for the position. 

23. By this Wood understood that his gender, male, disqualified him from being hired as or 

serving as a Sales Director for Defendants. 

24. Defendants deliberately discouraged Wood from applying for the Sales Director position 

based on his gender, male. 

25. Wood understood that neither he nor any other male should apply, or would be hired, for 

the position of Sales Director. 

26. In fact, on information and belief, during Defendant Degenhardt's tenure as General 

Manager the Defendants' Sales Directors have been predominantly or exclusively female. 

27. On information and belief, after becoming general manager Defendant Degenhardt 

announced that he was only hiring females for certain sales jobs because "women can sell 

memberships with their breasts." 

28. On information and belief, the Sales Director hired by Defendants in or around October 

2014 was a female. 

29. Wood timely filed a charge with U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 

(EEOC) and on August 3, 2015 was issued a Right to Sue Letter. 
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30. This action is brought timely and within 90 days of issuance of the Right to Sue Letter by 

the EEOC. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS  

31. Plaintiff brings this action individually and on behalf of a class of all males who applied 

for the position of Sales Director and/or were not allowed to apply for the position of Sales 

Director at Defendants at any time between September 2010 and the present. 

32. The members of the Class are sufficiently numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable. It is the estimate of Plaintiff that the Class exceeds 200 individuals. 

33. Several questions exist that are common to the Class, including but not limited to: 

a. Whether Class members are prohibited from applying for the position and/or working 

as Sales Directors; 

b. Whether Class members receive lesser pay as a result of not being allowed to serve as 

Sales Directors; 

c. Whether Defendants' common operating practices and procedures discriminate 

against male employees and/or applicants; 

d. Whether Defendants know or have reason to know of the discriminatory practices 

committed against the members of the Class; 

e. Whether Defendants' conduct warrants an award of declaratory, injunctive or 

equitable relief and, if so, the nature of such relief; and 

f. Whether Defendants' conduct warrants an award of damages. 

34. Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class, in that they have 

been prohibited from applying and/or serving in the Sales Director position. These practices, 

complained of herein, affect the entire Class. 
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35. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class. Plaintiff has no 

interests that conflict with those of the Class members and have retained counsel who are 

experienced in both class-action and employment litigation. 

36. Certification of the Class is warranted under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) because Defendants, 

by maintaining an ongoing pattern and practice of discrimination on the basis of gender, has 

acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the Class, thereby making appropriate 

final injunctive, declaratory and/or equitable relief with respect to the Class as a whole. 

COUNT I 
TITLE VII OF THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964, 

(42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e, et seq.) 

37. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates all preceding paragraphs of the Complaint, as if fully 

set forth herein. 

38. Defendants have discriminated against Plaintiff and the Class with respect to the terms 

and conditions of employment because of their gender, in violation of Title VII of the Civil 

Rights Acts of 1964, as amended by the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e, et seq. 

39. Defendants' conduct has been intentional and/or has had disparate impact on Plaintiff 

and the Class with respect to the terms and conditions of their employment. 

40. By virtue of Defendants' conduct as alleged herein, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to 

relief including compensatory damages and an injunction ordering Defendants to cease their 

discriminatory policies, as alleged above. 

40. Individually, Plaintiff is also entitled to compensatory damages in an amount to be 

determined at trial. Plaintiff also seeks an award of attorneys' fees and costs. 
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JURY DEMAND  

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 38, Plaintiff demands a trial by jury as to all issues so triable. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays that the Court enter an order: 

a. Certifying this action as a class action, with Plaintiff as the class Representative; 

b. Adjudicating and declaring that Defendant's conduct as set forth above is in violation of 

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended by the Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 

U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq.; 

c. Permanently enjoining and prohibiting Defendants and their officers, agents, employees 

and successors from continuing to engage in the practices complained of herein; 

d. Permanently enjoining and requiring Defendants to adopt policies and practices that 

ensure the cessation of all discriminatory practices affecting Plaintiff and the Class and 

requiring the institution of such measures as to ensure that these practices do not re-

emerge; 

e. Requiring Defendants to provide such relief to Plaintiff and the Class that would put them 

in the positions that they would otherwise be in but for Defendants' illegal discrimination; 

f. Awarding Plaintiff and the Class such equitable remedies, including, without limitation, 

back pay and front pay, necessary to provide Plaintiffs and the Class with full relief from 

the discrimination they have suffered; 

g. Awarding Plaintiff and the Class punitive damages justified under the circumstances; 

h. Awarding Plaintiff compensatory damages on an individual basis; 
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i. Awarding attorneys' fees and reimbursement of costs associated with this action to 

Plaintiff's Counsel; 

j. Retaining jurisdiction to ensure that Defendants fully complies with the equitable relief 

ordered; and 

k. Awarding Plaintiff and the Class such other and further legal and equitable relief as may 

be appropriate in the interest of justice. 

Dated: September 15, 2015 

Respectfully submitted, 

J 	LAW GROUP, LLC 

By: 

 

 

ofi T. Brown 
Qjtblawgroup.com  

155 2nd  Street, Suite 4 
Jersey City, New Jersey 07302 
Tel: (201) 630-0000 
Fax: (855) 582-5297 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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